IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

Case No. 2008-CA-00676

JOEL D. HOLLOWAY

VERSUS

.

;

.

TWYLA M. HOLLOWAY

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT'S BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

THOMAS T. BUCHANAN, JOHN D. SMALLWOOD, **TUCKER BUCHANAN, P.A.** ATTORNEYS AT LAW Post Office Box 4326 Laurel, MS 39441 T: (601) 649-8000 F: (601)-649-8009

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- I. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED IN SETTING THE AMOUNT OF CHILD SUPPORT TO BE PAID BY JOEL HOLLOWAY.
- II. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED WHEN IT AWARDED TWYLA HOLLOWAY ATTORNEY FEES.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a civil action stemming from a Complaint for Divorce [RE-6] filed by Joel D. Holloway ("Joel") on July 11, 2006. Thereafter, on August 15, 2006, Twyla Holloway ("Twyla") filed her Answer and Counter-Claim for Divorce [RE-7]. During the litigation, the trial court bifurcated the trial, hearing testimony and evidence on grounds for a divorce first, then proceeding to a hearing on all other issues.

The trial court heard testimony and evidence on the grounds for divorce on June 12, 2007. The parties reached an agreement upon custody, visitation and division of personal property. Twyla was awarded primary physical custody of the minor children, Joel was awarded specified visitation and the parties divided their personal properties. On August 7, 2007, the trial court heard testimony and evidence on all issues unresolved by the parties. On August 14, 2007, the trial court entered a <u>Judgment of Divorce</u> [RE-8] granting Twyla a divorce on the grounds of adultery.

On February 7, 2008, the trial court entered a <u>Findings of Facts and Conclusions</u> of Law [RE-9]. On March 11, 2008, the trial court entered a <u>Final Judgment of Divorce</u> [RE-10]. On March 18, 2008, Joel filed a post trial Motion to Reconsider [RE-11]. On April 8, 2008, the trial court heard argument on the Motion to Reconsider. On April 14, 2008, the trial court entered an <u>Order</u> denying the Motion to Reconsider [RE-12]. Aggrieved, Joel timely filed his <u>Notice of Appeal</u> to this Court on April 16, 2008 [RE-13]. Twyla did not file a cross-appeal.

i.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The parties, Joel D. Holloway ("Joel) and Twyla M. Holloway ("Twyla") were married on August 26, 1988. The parties had three (3) children during their marriage, namely, Joelle, born March 26, 1989, Zachary, born November 18, 1990 and Shannon, born November 25, 1992. On or about June 19, 2006, the parties finally separated.

Joel has an 11th grade education with no GED nor vocational training. At the time of the marriage of the parties, he had been working at Georgia Pacific for approximately three (3) years. He continued working there until 1999. Thereafter he had several jobs. In 2005, he began employment with Rowan Companies, Inc. doing off-shore oil field work. At the time of trial, Joel was 40 years old and remained employed by Rowan.

Twyla has a 12th grade education. She also obtained a nursing degree from Jones Junior College in 1995 [Tr. at 95]. She has been working in the nursing profession since. At the time of trial, Twyla was 37 years old and remained employed by Jefferson Medical Associates in Laurel, Jones County, Mississippi.

The parties are both residents of Laurel, Jones County, Mississippi. The parties had no real property and neither had a separate estate. The parties maintained a joint checking account, in which money was deposited and bills were paid, until 2003 [Tr. at 111]. Twyla maintained a retirement account accumulated during the marriage valued at \$20,107.29 [R. at 110]. Joel maintained a retirement account during the marriage valued at \$1,397.68 [R. at 115].

-3--

Joelle, the oldest child, has ADD. The children have no other

medical/psychological conditions. During the pendency of the litigation, Twyla was granted temporary physical custody of the minor children. At the time of trial, all three children were about to begin the 2007-2008 school year at Heidelberg Academy, a private school, in Jasper County, Mississippi. Tuition for all three for the school year was \$535.00 per month. Twyla enrolled the children in Heidelberg Academy. Joel did not agree with that decision.

ţ

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Chancery Court's calculations of Joel's adjusted gross income, deviation from the statutory guidelines for child support and awarding Twyla Holloway attorney fees was an abuse of discretion, manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous and a misapplication of the appropriate the legal standards in this case.

ARGUMENT

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Findings of the Chancellor will not be disturbed nor set aside on appeal "when supported by substantial evidence unless the chancellor abused his discretion, was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or an erroneous legal standard was applied." *Flechas v. Flechas*, 791 So.2d 295, 299 (Miss. App. 2001), *Sandlin v. Sandlin*, 699 So.2d 1198, 1203 (Miss. 1997). *Denson v. George*, 642 So. 2d 909, 913 (Miss. 1994). "Nonetheless, if manifest error is present or a legal standard is misapplied, this Court will not hesitate to reverse." *Flechas* at 299 (Miss. App. 2001); *Tilley v. Tilley*, 610 So.2d 348, 351 (Miss. 1992). Where there is a question of law, the standard of review is *de novo*. *Morreale v. Morreale*, 646 So.2d 1264, 1267 (Miss. 1994).

I. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED IN SETTING THE AMOUNT OF CHILD SUPPORT TO BE PAID BY JOEL HOLLOWAY.

A. ADJUSTED GROSS INCOME CALCULATION.

Miss. Code Ann. § 43-19-101 provides the courts of Mississippi with child support

award guidelines. There is no question that said statute provides the guideline of 22% of

adjusted gross income for setting child support for three (3) children. Miss. Code Ann. §

43-19-101 (3) states:

The amount of "adjusted gross income" as that term is used in subsection (1) of this section shall be calculated as follows:

(a) Determine gross income from all potential sources that may reasonably be expected to be available to the absent parent including, but not limited to, the following: wages and salary income; income from self employment; income from commissions; income from investments, including dividends, interest income and income on any trust account or property; absent parent's portion of any joint income of both parents; workers' compensation, disability, unemployment, annuity and retirement benefits, including an individual retirement account (IRA); any other payments made by any person, private entity, federal or state government or any unit of local government; alimony; any income earned from an interest in or from inherited property; any other form of earned income; and gross income shall exclude any monetary benefits derived from a second household, such as income of the absent parent's current spouse;

(b) Subtract the following legally mandated deductions:

(i) Federal, state and local taxes. Contributions to the payment of taxes over and beyond the actual liability for the taxable year shall not be considered a mandatory deduction;

(ii) Social security contributions;

(iii) Retirement and disability contributions except any voluntary retirement and disability contributions;

(e) Compute the total annual amount of adjusted gross income based on paragraphs (a) through (d), then divide this amount by twelve (12) to obtain the monthly amount of adjusted gross income.

Upon conclusion of the calculation of paragraphs (a) through (e), multiply the monthly amount of adjusted gross income by the appropriate percentage designated in subsection (1) to arrive at the amount of the monthly child support award.

It is undisputed that at the times of the hearings of this matter, Joel was employed

doing off-shore oil field work. In determining Joel's adjusted gross income for purposes

of considering an amount of child support, the Court stated:

Twyla Holloway presented her 8.05 Financial Statement as Exhibit 1 and Joel presented his statement as Exhibit 20. Joel was employed with Rowan Company, Inc., and his monthly gross income was \$5,396.39 and his net monthly pay was \$4,057.41. However, Joel's 8.05 Financial Statement is not consistent with his wage statement that was marked Exhibit 11 in evidence. According to his wage statement through June 6, 2007, his annual adjusted gross income **projected** (*emphasis added*) over 52 weeks was \$76,840.92. This figure divided by 12 equals \$6,403.41 per month as his adjusted gross income. Child support guidelines for three children calls for 22% which equals \$1,408.75 per month.

R. at 107.

The trial court set the child support at \$1,400.00 [R. at 108]. Exhibit 11, upon which the Court relies upon to calculate Joel's adjusted gross income, is a statement from his employer showing his year to date wages and his weekly wages for the week ending June 6, 2007 and the week ending May 2, 2007 (**Appendix I** attached). This document, which was not contradicted by Twyla, shows that Joel's income varies from week to week. For the week of June 6, 2007, his "Net Pay" was \$1,187.49. For the week ending

May 2, 2007, his "Net Pay" was \$1,164.28. While the differences in these two particular pay periods are not significant, what it reveals is that using only the earnings received by Joel for the June 6, 2007 statement to calculate Joel's "**projected**" annual adjusted gross income, was clear error. *Lee v. Stewart*, 724 So. 2d 1093, 1096 (Miss. COA 1998) In addition to the documentary evidence, the learned trial judge is well aware from his years on the bench in Jones and Wayne counties, that in the oil field business work time and pay fluctuates.

Using the year to date figures contained in this document, it is clear that from January 1 through June 6, 2007, Joel's adjusted gross income was \$25,007.35 (This calculation includes the mandatory deductions provided in MCA §43-19-101 (3)(b)). This time period is 22 weeks. \$25,0007.35 divided by 22 weeks equals \$1,136.70. \$1,136.70 multiplied by 52 weeks equals \$59,108.40. The calculations used by the trial court was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous and a misapplication of the appropriate legal standard warranting this Court to reverse and remand.

B. DEVIATION FROM CHILD SUPPORT GUIDELINES.

Miss. Code Ann. § 43-19-101 (4) provides,

In cases in which the adjusted gross income as defined in this section is more than Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$ 50,000.00) or less than Five Thousand Dollars (\$ 5,000.00), the court shall make a written finding in the record as to whether or not the application of the guidelines established in this section is reasonable.

As shown hereinabove, Joel's annual adjusted gross income exceeds \$50,000.00. The

trial court found "[t]he Court finds that is it appropriate to deviate from the guidelines in this case based upon the special needs of Joelle, the extra expense of Heidelberg Academy which the parties agreed for the children to attend." [R. at 108]. The trial court clearly deviated from the Child Support Guidelines set forth in Miss. Code Ann. § 43-19-101.

(i) Findings of Facts Not Supported by Evidence.

To begin, the above stated finding of fact is not supported by the evidence. First and foremost, "the parties" did not agree for the children to attend Heidelberg Academy. In his testimony, Joel was clear that he did not want the children to continue their education at Heidelberg Academy.

Witness: Joel Holloway

- Q. Now, you've hear your wife state that she wants your children to remain in private school. Would you tell the Court how private school came about, and your feelings?
- A. Well, I was off shore one day and called home; and she told me, said, well, I've sent the kids to Heidelberg Academy. I said, well, that's fine and good. It was on a scholarship. I said, whenever it starts costing me, they're going to have to go back to a public school, 'cause I can't pay for a private school. My tax dollars go to the public school. I don't see no need in paying extra money that's uncalled for that could go for something else.
 - **The Court:** You said they were up there on a scholarship. Which child was it that they were interest in as an athlete?
- A. Joelle and Zachary.

The Court: Two children?

- A. I think that's correct.
- Q. Has the scholarship now been taken away?
- A. It has been taken away.
- Q. And so what are you asking the Court to do as far as the children?
- A. I mean, they can go up there as long as they want. But, I don't agree to it.
- Q. Do you have the money to pay for it?
- A. I do not.

Tr. at 126-127.

In addition, the proof before the Court was that Heidelberg Academy does not give

its student approved standardized tests and their teachers do not maintain teaching

certificates through the State Board of Education.

Standardized testing

Witness: Sherman Livingston, Jr.

- Q. I did notice in the records from Heidelberg the standardized testing marks that are given in the public schools. Do y'all do that ?
- A. Not in high school, no.
- Q. Not in high school.
- A. No.

÷

- Q. So, there is no and I forgot California Achievement Test.
- A. Not in high school.
- Q. Do y'all give those standardized tests at all?
- A. Not this year. This was a change from this year.
- Q. Well, can you tell me what the kids these kids scored on the standardized tests last year ?

A. No, I can't

Tr. at 108-109.

Teacher Certification

Witness: Sherman Livingston, Jr.

- Q. What is your employment?
- A. I'm a teacher at Heidelberg Academy.

Q. Yeah. Are you license through the State ?

- A. Through the Private School Association, yes.
- Q. Is that a state thing?
- A. (No response.)

- Q. Is that conducted by the State?
- A. No, sir.

i.

Q. And, you do not have a certificate from the State Department of Education?A. No.

Tr. at 102, 107.

The testimony of Adonna McGill, psychometrist for the Jones County School District reveals the opposite of West Jones, the public school the minor children herein would attend. West Jones is a level 5 school, it has staff trained to work with children with ADD, and the teachers are certified by the State of Mississippi. [Tr. at 116-118].

The issue of whether the parties' children should be in private school versus public school and whom should pay for private school, if there, was before the Court. As shown hereinabove, Joel did not want the children in Heidelberg Academy as he paid Jones County taxes for public education. As shown on cross-examination by Joel's counsel, Heidelberg Academy does not provide standardized testing, board certified teachers nor any special setting for children with ADD.

Additionally, the trial court states that "Twyla testified that Joelle was a special

needs child." [R. at 108] and further finds that Joelle has "ADD and ADHD" [R. at 109]. These findings are not supported by the evidence. Other than her ADD, Twyla gave no testimony that Joelle was a "special needs child" as described by the Court. Furthermore, Twyla herself testified that "She is ADD. She is not hyperactive. But, she is ADD." (Tr. at 156).

(ii) **Deviation of Guidelines**

The trial Court deviated from the statutory guidelines due to "the special needs of

Joelle and the extra expense of Heidelberg Academy which the parties agreed for the

children to attend." [R. at 108]. For a Chancellor to consider deviation from the statutory

guideline in Miss. Code Ann. §43-19-103, the Court must consider:

(a) Extraordinary medical, psychological, educational or dental expenses.

(b) Independent income of the child.

(c) The payment of both child support and spousal support to the obligee.

(d) Seasonal variations in one or both parents' incomes or expenses.

(e) The age of the child, taking into account the greater needs of older children.

(f) Special needs that have traditionally been met within the family budget even though the fulfilling of those needs will cause the support to exceed the proposed guidelines.

(g) The particular shared parental arrangement, such as where the noncustodial parent spends a great deal of time with the children thereby reducing the financial expenditures incurred by the custodial parent, or the refusal of the noncustodial parent to become involved in the activities of the child, or giving due consideration to the custodial parent's homemaking services.

(h) Total available assets of the obligee, obligor and the child.

(i) Any other adjustment which is needed to achieve an equitable result which may include, but not be limited to, a reasonable and necessary existing expense or debt.

The Supreme Court has noted that the statutory guideline does "not control per se

the amount" of a child support award. Chesney v. Chesney, 910 So. 2d 1057, 1061 (Miss.

2005); *Clausel v. Clausel*, 714 So. 2d 265, 267 (Miss. 1998). However, for this Court to affirm an award which deviates from the guideline of Section 43-19-101(1), the chancellor must overcome the rebuttable presumption that the statutory award is the appropriate measure of child support by making an on-the-record finding that it would be unjust or inappropriate to apply the guidelines in the instant case. *Id*.

Joelle is not a special needs child, she has ADD. Zachary and Shannon do not. The only proof offered by Twyla to support keeping the children in the private school was that Joelle did better in smaller class sizes. No evidence was presented that Zachary nor Shannon benefited from the private school, though issues regarding the standard of education provided at Heidelberg Academy abound. The trial court's deviation from the statutory guideline was based upon the special needs of Joelle but effectively kept Zachary and Shannon in the same school and held Joel financially responsible. This deviation was an abuse of discretion and was not supported by the evidence. Joel did not agree to it, the school does not have certified teachers and the school does not even provide standardized testing to the students.

At this point in the brief, undersigned counsel will bring to this Court's attention an issue as to the application of Miss. Code Ann. § 43-19-101 (4). It is the undersigned counsel's experience from appearing before Chancery Courts across this state, that when a parent's adjusted gross income is found to be above \$50,000.00, the application of Miss. Code Ann. § 43-19-101 (4) varies from court to court. Some courts deem the \$50,000.00 amount as a hard cap and will set child support based upon that amount and

-13-

will only deviate if a party provides a valid reason to do so. In other courts, the judges will apply the child support percentage upon the total adjusted gross income of a party and will deviate only if someone can provide a valid reason to do so. The ambiguity of the statute has left open the various applications by our courts. It would behoove both the bench and the bar of this State for this Court to resolve this ambiguity so that a uniform application could be administered statewide.

(iii) Punishment.

As shown hereinabove, the trial court committed error in the calculations used to determine Joel's adjusted gross income and in the deviation from the statutory guidelines. Based upon the language of the Court in its Findings of Facts and Conclusions of Law [RE-9], this error was caused by the Court seeking to punish Joel. The following supports this:

Through the marriage Joel was financially irresponsible by spending his money on alcohol. [R. at 109]

Joel wasted assets due to his drinking. [R. at 109]

Joel wasted money during the marriage on drinking and on Tracy Pryor. [R. at 110]

The evidence reveals that Joel did not contribute substantially during the marriage but went from job to job, wasted assets on drinking, and mismanaged the parties' finances. [R. at 113]

Joel's denial of his adultery resulted in a substantial increase in Twyla's attorney fees. Being untruthful to the Court has it penalties. [R. at 114]

All of these findings of drinking are based upon the naked allegations of Twyla. Twyla produced no document to support Joel's "irresponsible" spending on drinking nor any perceived waste of marital assets on drinking. On the other hand, the record is clear that from the time the parties married in 1988 until 1999, Joel worked at Georgia Pacific making good income. Thereafter from 2005 to 2008 he worked for Rowan Company, Inc. making good income. For a period of 14 years during the marriage, Joel had 2 employers and brought substantial income to the marriage. The Court's findings that he "did not contribute substantially during the marriage but went from job to job" is simply not supported by the evidence presented at trial.

II. THE CHANCERY COURT ERRED WHEN IT AWARDED TWYLA HOLLOWAY ATTORNEYS FEES.

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