IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEL D. HOLLOWAY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2008-CA-00676

TWYLA M. HOLLOWAY

APPELLEE

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF
JONES COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI
SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT
CAUSE NO. 2006-0591

THE HONORABLE FRANK MCKENZIE, CHANCELLOR, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

CAVES & CAVES, PLLC
TERRY L. CAVES - [REDACTED]
JERRY D. SHARP - [REDACTED]
Attorneys at Law
P. O. Drawer 167
Laurel, MS 39441-0167
Telephone (601) 428-0402

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOEL D. HOLLOWAY

APPELLANT

VERSUS

NO. 2008-CA-00676

TWYLA M. HOLLOWAY

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

C. Summary of the Argument

The Chancery Court could not rely on Joel's testimony because of his inability to tell the truth.

The amount of child support ordered falls within the statutory guidelines, but even if it did not the Chancellor made specific findings which overcame the rebuttable presumption that the statutory amount was the appropriate amount of child support.

The learned Chancellor was correct in awarding Twyla attorney fees and finding that Joel's behavior caused the amount of Twyla's attorney fees to increase. The Chancellor's findings in this matter were supported by the evidence presented at the trial of this case and by the laws of this state.

D. Legal Argument

“This Court's scope of review in domestic relations matters is limited.” *Perkins v. Perkins*, 787 So.2d 1256, 1260-1261 (Miss. 2001); quoting *Montgomery v. Montgomery*, 759 So.2d 1238, 1240 (Miss. 2000). In a domestic relations case, this Court applies the familiar substantial evidence/manifest error rule. *Mosley v. Mosley*, 784 So.2d 901, 904 (Miss. 2001); citing *Stevison v. Woods*, 560 So.2d 176, 180 (Miss. 1990). “This Court will not disturb the findings of a chancellor unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous or an erroneous legal standard was applied.” *Mosley*, 784 So.2d at 904; quoting *Bell v. Parker*, 563 So.2d 594, 596-97 (Miss. 1990). See also *Ferguson v. Ferguson*, 639 So.2d 921 (Miss. 1994); *Faries v. Faries*, 607 So.2d 1204, 1208 (Miss. 1992). The word “manifest,” as defined in this context, means “unmistakable, clear, plain, or indisputable.” *Id.*; citing *Black's Law Dictionary* 963 (6th ed.1990); *Turpin v. Turpin*, 699 So.2d 560, 564 (Miss. 1997) (quoting *Magee v. Magee*, 661 So.2d 1117, 1122 (Miss. 1995)).

1. The Chancellor could not Rely on Joel's Credibility

When the chancellor sits as fact-finder in cases such as this, he is charged with assessing the credibility of the witnesses and deciding what weight to give to the testimony and evidence. *Ewing v. Ewing*, 749 So.2d 223, 224 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); citing *Ellis v. Ellis*, 248 Miss. 483, 489, 160 So.2d 904, 907-8 (1964). The chancellor, by his presence in the courtroom, is best equipped to listen to the witnesses, observe their demeanor, and determine the credibility of the witnesses and what weight ought to be ascribed to the evidence given by those witnesses. *Carter v. Carter*, 735 So.2d 1109, 1114 (Miss. Ct. App. 1999); citing *Murphy v. Murphy*, 631 So.2d 812, 815 (Miss.1994). Therefore “when considering the decisions of a chancellor on appeal, this Court has a limited standard of review.” *Estate of Volmer v. Volmer*, 832 So.2d 615, 622 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002); citing *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So.2d 1057 (¶ 21) (Miss. 2000). When conflicting

testimony on the same issue is presented, the chancellor sitting as trier of fact must determine which version he finds more credible. *Carter*, 735 So.2d at 1114; citing *Murphy v. Murphy*, 631 So.2d 812, 815 (Miss. 1994). “The chancellor, as the trier of fact, evaluates the sufficiency of the proof based on the credibility of witnesses and the weight of their testimony.” *Estate of Volmer*, 832 So.2d at 622; quoting *Fisher v. Fisher*, 771 So.2d 364 (Miss. 2000). Where the record contains substantial credible evidence to support the chancellor's findings, we will defer to them. *Carter*, 735 So.2d at 1114.

In this case, the Chancellor in the case at hand was faced with the unenviable task of trying to ascertain truth from Joel Holloway’s testimony. Joel’s deception in this case began early and continued through the trial of this matter. Joel filed a Complaint for Divorce and Motion for Temporary Relief to begin the litigation of this matter. (CP 8). Twyla then filed her Answer to Complaint for Divorce and Motion for Temporary Relief with Counter-Claim for Divorce in which she alleged that Joel was guilty of uncondoned adultery. (CP 20). Twyla served Request for Admissions on Joel. (T. 9) In Joel’s response to Twyla’s Request for Admissions he denied that he had sexual relations with anyone other than Twyla during the marriage. (T. 9)

In Twyla’ First Set of Interrogatories in Interrogatory No. 16 she asked Joel if he had sex with anyone other than her during the marriage. Joel replied to that Interrogatory by stating he had not. (T. 7) While on the witness stand Joel denied that Twyla even claimed that he had committed adultery. (T. 7) Joel was asked on the stand if he had sex with Tracy Pryor during his marriage to Twyla, and his response was “There’s no proof of it.” (T. 10) Then when asked if had sex with anyone other than Twyla during their marriage he adamantly stated no. (T. 10)

While on the witness stand he was asked if he had sex with Tracy Pryor, and he lied and said he had not. (T. 6) When Joel was asked what kind of relationship he had with Tracy Pryor

he stated they were just friends. (T. 18) However, it was proven that his relationship with Tracy Pryor was more than that of just friends. He admitted to Twyla that he had sex with Tracy Pryor. (T. 30) (CP 104) The testimony of Tracy Pryor and her husband Brian Pryor substantiated Twyla's claim that Joel had committed adultery with Tracy. (T. 35, 37, 41, 44, 45) Joel's denials of adultery were proven to be blatant lies by the testimony of Tracy Pryor.

Tracy Pryor while on the witness stand admitted that she had sex with Joel during his marriage to Twyla. (T. 35, 37, 41,) Ms. Pryor admitted that she and Joel had sex "maybe two or three times." (T. 35) Brian Pryor testified that Joel admitted to him that he had sex with his wife. (T. 44) Mr. Pryor testified Joel told him the reason he was having sex with Brian Pryor's wife was because Brian's "wife's (Tracy) p_____ was better than his wife's (Twyla) p_____." (T. 44, 45) Joel even admitted to being alone with Tracy Pryor in a tanning salon with the salon doors locked. (T. 19, 20)

Furthermore Joel went to the home of the Pryor's and assaulted Tracy's husband Brian because Brian accused him of having sex with his wife. Joel then pled guilty to assaulting Brian. (T. 14) Joel's deceptions did not stop with the issue of adultery. Joel also denied that he had a problem with alcohol on the witness stand. (T. 10)

Joel was asked if he was an alcoholic. He replied by saying "No, not that I know of." (T. 10) However he was admitted to East Mississippi for alcohol dependence. (T. 10) His alcoholism was further proven by his own admission on the witness stand that he had been attending alcoholic's anonymous meetings. (T. 12) When asked how often do you get drunk during the week, he replied by saying "maybe one good one during the week." (T. 11) When asked how many beers do you have to drink to get drunk, he replied "probably a good case." (T. 11) He admitted to having a car wreck because of his drinking. (T. 13) He admitted on cross

examination that he was arrested for DUI the week prior to the trial. (T. 14) Joel's inability to tell the truth also extended into his testimony related to how much money he earns each month.

Joel presented a financial statement alleging that his gross monthly income was \$5,396. 39 with an adjusted gross income of \$4,057.41. (Ex. 20) (CP 107) However his own wage statement does not match those figures. (Ex. 11) (CP 107) His wage statement shows that he actually had an adjusted gross income of \$1,477.71 for the week of May 30, 2007 through June 6, 2007. (Ex. 11) (CP 107) Simple math shows that when you project that figure over fifty two (52) weeks and then divide that amount by twelve (12) he has a monthly adjusted gross income of \$6,403.41. (Ex. 11) In addition to the inaccuracy of his financial statement he also admitted that he was earning additional income from another job that was not listed on his financial statement. In other words, he intentionally deceived the Court by not disclosing all of his income. When asked about that income he stated "...that's for my benefit and my benefit only." He stated "that's money I made for myself to benefit me." (T. 143) When asked if he was going to report that additional income on his tax returns he stated "I doubt it." (T. 143)

During the trial of this matter Joel told numerous untruths and it was proven during the trial that he was not being honest with the trial court. He argues in this appeal that the amount of child support he has been ordered to pay is too much and that the amount should be reduced. He also claims that the trial court is trying to punish him by the amount of child support that was ordered. However, the remainder of this brief will show that the trial court's findings are supported by the evidence presented at trial and by the laws of the State of Mississippi.

2. The Evidence Clearly Supports the Ordered Amount of Child Support

This Court has noted that this statutory guideline does "not control per se the amount" of a child support award. *Clausel*, 714 So.2d at 267. Rather, the specific award amount must be set by the chancellor, "who has special knowledge of the actual circumstances" in each case.

McEachern v. McEachern, 605 So.2d 809, 814 (Miss. 1992). However, for this Court to affirm an award which deviates from the guideline of Section 43-19-101(1), the chancellor must overcome the rebuttable presumption that the statutory award is the appropriate measure of child support by making an on-the-record finding that it would be unjust or inappropriate to apply the guidelines in the instant case. *Id. Chesney v. Chesney*, 910 So.2d 1057, 1061 (Miss. 2005).

The child support statute grants “a rebuttable presumption in all judicial and administrative proceedings regarding awarding or modifying of child support awards in this state.” The child support guidelines for three children are 22% of the non-custodial parent’s adjusted gross income. The amount “adjusted gross income” as that term is applicable in Miss. Code Ann. §43-19-101(3) is calculated as gross income less the following legally mandated deductions:

(i) Federal, state and local taxes. Contributions to the payment of taxes over and beyond the actual liability for the taxable year shall not be considered a mandatory deduction;

(ii) Social security contributions;

(iii) Retirement and disability contributions except any voluntary retirement and disability contributions;

If the absent parent is subject to an existing court order for another child or children, subtract the amount of that court-ordered support;

If the absent parent is also the parent of another child or other children residing with him, then the court may subtract an amount that it deems appropriate to account for the needs of said child or children;

Compute the total annual amount of adjusted gross income based on paragraphs (a) through (d), then divide this amount by twelve (12) to obtain the monthly amount of adjusted gross income.

Upon conclusion of the calculation of paragraphs (a) through (e), multiply the monthly amount of adjusted gross income by the appropriate percentage designated in subsection (1) to arrive at the amount of the monthly child support award.

Miss. Code Ann. §43-19-101(4) provides as follows:

“(4) in cases in which the adjusted gross income as defined in this section is more than Fifty Thousand Dollars (\$50,000.00) or less than Five Thousand Dollars (\$5,000.00), the court shall make a written finding in the record as to whether or not the application of the guidelines established in this section is reasonable.”

Gross income is determined from all potential sources, including wages and salary income, income from self-employment, income from investments and income from alimony.

Miss. Code Ann. §43-19-103 sets forth the criteria by which the presumption may be rebutted. The aforesaid section does specify the following criteria:

- (a) Extraordinary medical, psychological, educational or dental expenses.
- (b) Independent income of the child.
- (c) The payment of both child support and spousal support.
- (d) Seasonal variations in one or both parents' incomes or expenses.
- (e) The age of the child, taking into account the greater needs of older children.
- (f) Special needs that have traditionally been met within the family budget even though the fulfilling of those needs will cause the support to exceed the proposed guidelines.
- (g) The particular shared parental arrangement, such as where the non-custodial parent spends a great deal of time with the children thereby reducing the financial expenditures incurred by the custodial parent, or the refusal by the non-custodial parent to become involved in the activities of the child, or giving due consideration to the custodial parent's homemaking services.
- (h) Total available assets of the obligee, obligor and the child.
- (i) Any other adjustment which is needed to achieve an equitable result which may include, but not be limited to, a reasonable and necessary existing expense or debt."

The child support award guidelines may be considered as an aid to the trial court, but the guidelines do not solely determine the specific amount of child support. The responsibility for the child support determination is placed upon the trial court. *Thurman v. Thurman*, 559 So.2d 1024 (Miss. 1990); *Clark v. Myrick*, 523 So.2d 79 (Miss. 1988). The statutory guidelines are used in conjunction with the nine *Brabham* factors to establish the appropriate award of child support. *Draper v. Draper*, 658 So.2d 866 (Miss. 1995).

Additionally the trial court can award private school tuition as part of or in addition to a support award as long as the chancellor makes findings to support a deviation from the statutory guidelines. See *Hensarling v. Hensarling*, 824 So.2d 583, 588-589 (Miss. 2002); *Seymour v.*

Seymour, 960 So.2d 513, 517 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); *Chesney v. Chesney*, 910 So.2d 1057, 1061-1063 (Miss. 2005).

Judge McKenzie's findings with regards to child support were supported by the facts of this case. Joel was ordered to pay \$1400 per month in child support. (CP 108) This figure was supported by Joel's wage statement and the statutory guidelines. (CP 107, 108) (Ex. 11) Joel and Twyla have three children and Twyla was awarded the primary physical custody of the three minor children. (CP 104) The statute is clear in that child support for three children is twenty-two percent of the non custodial parent's adjusted gross income. The evidence presented at trial clearly shows that twenty-two percent of Joel's reported adjusted gross income is \$1, 408.75. (emphasis added) (CP 107) (Ex. 11) Because of Joel's unreported income his child support amount should be more than \$1, 400. The statute states that if the non custodial parent's adjusted gross income exceeds \$50, 000, the Chancellor should make findings that the statutory guidelines are reasonable.

The Chancellor's findings indicate that the amount of support is reasonable, and his findings were clearly supported by the evidence. The Chancellor made findings that Joelle was a special needs child. (CP 108) (T. 104) That Joelle suffers from ADD and required special attention with her school work. (CP 108) (T. 61, 62) (T. 104) Joel even stated in his brief that "Joelle has ADD..." (Appellant brief pg. 13) The trial court also found that Joelle attended West Jones for a short time but had problems performing the work. (CP 108) (T. 61) He found that Twyla and Joel made a joint decision to enroll the children at Heidelberg Academy so that Joelle could have special attention in a small classroom setting. (CP 108) (T. 156) The trial court further found that Joelle has performed well at Heidelberg and that it is in her best interest to remain there. (CP 108) (T. 63) Additionally all three children have been enrolled at Heidelberg Academy for two years and are currently involved in extra-curricular activities at

Heidelberg Academy. (CP 108) (T. 64, 65) (T. 157) Additionally he found that the need for private school was being met by the family before the separation. (CP 108) (T. 64)

Twyla called Sherman Livingston as a witness concerning Joelle's' school record. Mr. Livingston was one of the teachers for Joelle and testified that she was performing well in the small setting at Heidelberg Academy. (T. 102, 104) Twyla testified that the tuition at Heidelberg Academy for all three children is now \$535. (T. 157) This figure was undisputed. She also testified about the extra-curricular expenses. (T. 157)

Joel called Adonna McGill to support his contention that the expense of Heidelberg Academy was unnecessary. (T. 116) However on cross examination it became very obvious that Ms. McGill was not familiar with the facts of this case and could not attest to which school would be best for the children. (T. 120, 121) The evidence presented at trial, the laws of the State of Mississippi, and the lack of Joel's credibility all point to the fact that the amount of child support set by the trial court is correct and should be affirmed.

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